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NEW YORK STATE SUPREME COURT 
COUNTY OF NASSAU  AMENDED 
---------------------------------------------------------------x  VERIFIED ARTICLE 78 
M. F., as parent and guardian, individually,  PETITION AND COMPLAINT 
and on behalf of her minor school-aged children, and all
other children similarly situated, Index No. 607277/21 

Petitioner\Plaintiff 
    v. 

ANDREW M. CUOMO, GOVERNOR OF NEW YORK,  
in his official capacity; NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT 
OF HEALTH; LOCUST VALLEY CENTRAL  
SCHOOL DISTRICT; and BOARD OF EDUCATION OF  
LOCUST VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT, 

Respondents\Defendants 
----------------------------------------------------------------------x 
Judgment Pursuant to CPLR §7803 & §3001; 
42 U.S.C. §1983.     

Petitioner\Plaintiff, M.F. (“Petitioner”), individually, and on behalf of her minor children, 

and all children similarly situated, as and for her Petition and Complaint against 

Respondent\Defendant ANDREW M. CUOMO, GOVERNOR OF NEW YORK (the 

“Governor”); NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (“NYSDOH”); LOCUST 

VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT; BOARD OF EDUCATION OF LOCUST 

VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT (jointly “LOCUST VALLEY”); (LOCUST 

VALLEY, the Governor, and NYSDOH, jointly, the “Respondents”), hereby and herein, 

respectfully, alleges as follows: 

 Nature of the Case 

1. This is a hybrid Article 78 proceeding\42 U.S.C. § 1983 action (“Petition”) seeking

injunctive and declaratory relief to immediately enjoin the Respondents from continuing to impose 
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school required face masks, or face coverings (hereinafter “mask mandates”), on the Petitioner’s 

children, and all other students similarly situated throughout New York State.  Mask mandates are 

being forced on Petitioner’s children as a Covid 19 Covered Countermeasure, per LOCUST 

VALLEY school policies; NYSDOH April 9, 2021 school re-opening guidelines (“Guidelines”), 

amended on June 7, 202, the guidelines are incorporated by reference into newly-adopted, 

NYSDOH regulations found in NYCRR 66.3-2, face coverings (“Part 66.3-2”).  

2.  Petitioner’s claim is there are both known, and unknown, health risks of mandating face 

masks on school children that are causing her children physical and emotional injuries, and 

irreparable harm, warranting the sought after injunctive and declaratory relief, striking down the 

mask mandates as arbitrary and capricious, as violating state and federal laws requiring informed 

consent, as violating the Separation of Powers rule, as violating the Executive Law and Executive 

Orders, and as violating Petitioner’s rights of equal protection and due process of law to refuse the 

mask mandate. 42 U.S.C. 1983, Civil Action for Deprivation of Rights.  

3.  Petitioner’s claim is her children pose little to no health threat to themselves, nor do they 

pose a health risk to others by transmission, this according to the Centers of Disease Control and 

Prevention’s (CDC’s) recently published data showing a 1 in 20 million chance of a child dying 

from Covid 19.  Additionally, other nationally, recognized evidence-based standards, and peer 

reviewed medical literature establish Covid 19’s remarkably, low death rate. 

4.   Petitioner’s claim is the Governor’s interpretation of the CDC IFR data is not rational, and 

the mask mandate imposed on school children is equally irrational.   
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https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatracker-home 
 

5.  Petitioner’s claims are fully supported by the CDC’s most current Covid 19, a.k.a. SARS-

CoV-2 data.  For recognition of a commonly known fact to public health officials familiar with the 

matter, Petitioner, respectfully, is entitled to Judicial Notice by this Court of the CDC evidence 

proffered in the Petition.  It is, respectfully, submitted, that in deciding to whether to grant 

Petitioner’s declaratory and injunctive relief striking down the newly-enacted regulations in 

NYCRR 66.3-2, face coverings, and in restraining the mask mandates being imposed on Petitioner’s 

children to attend school in LOCUST VALLEY. that are causing Petitioner, and her children, 

irreparable harm, this Court should consider the CDC data as an established fact. 

6.  Petitioner seeks an Order of this Court striking down the mask mandates, and declaring that 

Covid 19 does not rise to the level of a deadly “epidemic,” as contemplated in the definition of 

“disaster” in the Executive Law §20(2)(a), natural and manmade disasters, pursuant to which the 

Governor is exercising his Covid 19 “emergency powers” in Executive Order(s) 202, 202.14, 
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202.45 & 202.60 imposing the Covid 19 Countermeasures, and mask mandate, at state schools 

throughout New York. 

7.  A real controversy exists between the parties in that the Governor asserts he has the right to 

require mask mandates as an exercise of police power, whereas, Petitioner alleges she has the right 

to refuse the mask mandate by withholding informed consent. See NY PHL Chapter 45, Article 24 

(a); 21 U.S. Code, § 360bbb-3 and 45 CFR §46.401 et seq. 

8.  Petitioner alleges the Governor has exceeded his police powers because Covid 19 cannot be 

rationally considered a deadly “epidemic,” or threat to children’s health, because the risk of a child 

dying from Covid 19, or transmitting it to others, according to CDC, is basically “zero.”  See Exh. 1, 

Exec. Order 202; Exh. 2, Exec. Order 202.60, and Exh. 3, NYSDOH Regulations, NYCRR 66.3-2, re 

face coverings. 

9.  Relying on CDC data, children ages 5 – 17 make up 16.3% of the population.  The current 

US population is about 332,367,560, so that equals about 54,175,912 children.  CDC has reported 

179 deaths to children from Covid 19, or 179 deaths out of 54 million children, which is .00057%, 

which is basically a “zero” Infection Fatality Rate (“IFR”) of a child dying from Covid 19. 1,2.    

10.  A basically “zero” IFR for children from Covid 19 cannot be said to rise to the level of a 

“disaster” under the definition in Executive Law 20(2)(a), and runs afoul of the Supreme Court’s 

precedent in Jacobson v Massachusetts, 197 U.S. 11 (1905), the landmark, vaccine-refusal case, 

articulating clear restraints upon a state’s police power in responding to a declared health 

emergency.  

 
1 https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.05.18.21257385v1 
2 https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatracker-home 
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11.  Further, it is a myth that masks prevent viruses from spreading.  Wearing a mask to prevent 

a SARS-CoV-2 infection, or similarly sized influenza, is like throwing sand at a chain-link fence, it 

does not work.   

12.  Upon information and belief, in a recently released email dated February 5, 2020 to 

Secretary of HHS, Sylvia Burwell, allegedly obtained through Freedom of Information Law by 

BuzzFeed, Anthony Fauci, M.D., part of the President’s Covid 19 Task Force, and director of 

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID”), described the futility of healthy 

people wearing face masks to reduce the spread of Covid 19.  

 

13.  In a large, randomized, controlled study published in March of 2021 in the Annals of 

Internal Medicine, that specifically examined whether masks protect their wearers from the corona 

virus, the  study found mask wearing “did not reduce, at conventional levels of statistical 

significance, the incidence of SARS-CoV-2-infection.” 3 

14.  A University of Louisville study reviewed data from 80% of US states which mandated 

masks during the Covid 19 pandemic and concluded that greater mask compliance did not correlate 

 
3 https://www.acpjournals.org/doi/10.7326/M20-6817 
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with lower growth rates of the virus.  The Study found, “mask mandates and use are not associated 

with lower SARS-CoV-2 spread among U.S. states.” The University project also found, 

“[p]rolonged mask use (>4 hours per day) promotes facial alkalinization and inadvertently 

encourages dehydration, which in turn can enhance barrier breakdown and bacterial infection risk.”4 

See Exh. 8, University of Louisville Mask Study, re: no effect. 

15.  There is zero safety data on the long-term effects or efficacy of requiring children to wear 

masks, or other face shields, all day long while in school. One study of Middle Eastern women who 

wear Burkas (face coverings) show significant lung damage from face masks and coverings.5   

 

CDC RELAXES FACE MASK GUIDELINES 

16.  On about May 15, 2021, CDC relaxed its face mask guidelines under certain conditions.6  

17.  On about May 21, 2021, New York State tightened its mask guidelines for school children. 

18.  On about May 21, 2021, NYSDOH enacted regulations found in NYCRR 66.3-2, face 

coverings, (Exh. xxx) which are regulations unsupported by any credible data showing a cogent or 

rational relationship between the school mask mandate and the public health interest allegedly 

served, that is requiring children to wear face masks seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days a week, in 

order to attend school, for a disease they have basically “zero” risk of contracting or transmitting to 

others.7 NYCRR 66.3-2. 

 
4 https://needtoknow.news/2021/05/huge-new-study-concludes-masks-did-not-slow-covid-spread-in-us/ 
 
5    
Alghadir, Ahmad & Aly, Farag & Zafar, Hamayun. (2012). Effect of face veil on ventilator function among Saudi 
adult females. PAKISTAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES. 28. 71-74.  
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/244485085_Effect_of_face_veil_on_ventilator_function_among_Saudi
adult_females 
6 https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated.html 
7 Id at footnote 1 & 2. 
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19.  On March 19, 2021, CDC updated its Infection Fatality Rate (IFR) for children between 0-

17 years old, that shows the rate of fatality from Covid 19 to children was 1 in 20 million, and if 

exposed, children likely develop life-long natural immunity diminishing Covid 19’s presence in the 

community by natural immunity, thus, protecting the elderly, and those who may be at greater risk 

to the virus, a clear benefit to mankind.8 

20.  Upon information and belief, in comparison, the odds of a person dying in a car crash in 

New York is 1 in 103. 

21.  In the 1905, landmark vaccine-refusal case articulating a state’s police power for public 

officials to respond in a declared emergency, the Supreme Court cautioned that if a state law 

purported to be for the public health, but “has no real or substantial relation to those objects, or is, 

beyond all question, a plain, palpable invasion of rights secured by the fundamental law, it is the 

duty of the courts to so adjudge.” Jacobson v. Massachusetts, 197 U.S. 11 (1905). 

22.  Petitioner’s claim is Respondents have been reckless in the state’s Covid 19 response in that 

they are not monitoring the imposition of face mask use on children for safety, or evaluating its use 

for efficacy, disregarding the remarkable, CDC IFR risk data to children, in an unbridled exercise of 

police power by the Governor that is putting Petitioner’s children’s health in jeopardy by requiring 

them to wear a face mask for up to seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days per week, in order to attend 

school. 9 See Exh. 3, NYCRR 66-3.2, re: face coverings. 

23.  Masks are considered “experimental” use devices that have been authorized under federal 

regulations for emergency use only, and require information about the use of the experimental 

device to be furnished to the student’s parent, and further, requires informing the student’s parent of 

 
8 The CDC released updated infection fatality rates including 0-17 year old on March 19, 
2021. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/planning-scenarios.html  
 
9 https://regs.health.ny.gov/volume-1a-title-10/content/section-66-32-face-coverings 
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the right to refuse by withholding informed consent. See Exh. 4, US FDA August 5, 2020, EUA 

Authorization. 

24.  Under applicable international, federal, and state laws, and jus cogens norms, face masks, 

because they are considered an “experimental” medical use device(s), cannot be mandated on 

children in this state for school attendance, but, rather, said use requires uncoerced, informed 

consent of the parent of the student to consent to mask use while the student is in school.  

25.  Upon information and belief, Petitioner has not been informed by any of the above-named 

Respondents, as to her lawful rights to refuse the mask mandate for her children to attend LOCUST 

VALLEY, and instead Petitioner is being pressured and harassed to submit to the mask mandate for 

her children, or else have them excluded from school, like her son G.F, age eleven (11), who is now 

being homeschooled due to mask intolerance.  See Affid. of M.F., dated June 5, 2021. 

  

                    PARTIES 

26.  At all times relevant hereto, Petitioner M.F. is an individual who resides in the NASSAU 

COUNTY, and is the mother and natural parent of four (4) school aged children in the LOCUST 

VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT. Petitioner lives with her husband and their five 

children in their family home in Upper Brookville, Nassau County, New York.  Petitioner’s 

youngest son G.F. is eleven (11) years old, and is being homeschooled because he cannot tolerate 

the face mask.  Petitioner’s daughter N.F. is age twelve (12) and in seventh grade, her daughter 

G.C.F. is age fourteen (14), and is in eighth grade, and her daughter G.M.F., age fifteen (15), is in 

tenth grade.  All Petitioner’s minor children are enrolled in LOCUST VALLEY schools, but only 

her daughters are attending school. 
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27.  At all times relevant hereto, Respondent ANDREW M. CUOMO, GOVERNOR OF NEW 

YORK was, and is, the elected Governor of the State of New York, being sued in his official 

capacity.  Since May of 2020, the Governor has issued Executive Orders on an emergency basis that 

threaten to deprive Petitioner of certain rights, privileges, and immunities under the laws of the 

Constitution of the United States, and under the laws and Constitution of the State of New York.  

28.  At all times relevant hereto, Respondent NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF 

HEALTH was, and is, the regulatory agency of the New York State government responsible for 

regulating public health.  

29.  At all times relevant hereto, Respondent LOCUST VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL 

DISTRICT, was and is, a school district duly created under the education laws of the State of New 

York located in Nassau County. 

30.  At all times relevant hereto, Respondent BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE LOCUST 

VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT was, and is, the governing body of the Respondent 

LOCUST VALLEY CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT located in Nassau County, New York. 

31.  Defendants are all state actors unprotected by sovereign immunity for purposes of this 

action\proceeding. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

32.  This Court has jurisdiction over the proceeding under 28 U.S.C. §1331, which confers 

jurisdiction on state courts to hear suits arising under the laws and Constitution of the United States, 

as well as claims under 42 U.S.C. §1983, in relation to Respondents’ intent to deprive Petitioner of 

certain, rights, privileges and immunities guaranteed by law; as well as Article 78 of the CPLR, as 
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to Petitioner’s claims the Respondents have acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner, causing 

Petitioner’s irreparable, and per se irreparable harm warranting the relief. 

33.  This Court has the authority and jurisdiction under CPLR §7803 to enjoin the mask 

mandate, under CPLR § 3001 to award the declaratory relief, and under the common law of the 

State of New York, and to award attorneys’ fees and costs under CPLR §8101. 

34.  This Court has the authority and jurisdiction to award the requested the injunctive relief 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a); the requested declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201; and attorneys’ 

fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

35.  Nassau County is a proper venue for this proceeding under CPLR §§ 503(a), 506(b), and 

7804(b), and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(1) & (2) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to 

Petitioner’s claims occurred, and continue to occur, in Nassau County, and because the LOCUST 

VALLEY Central School District, and its Board, are located in Nassau County, and because 

Petitioner, and her children, reside in Nassau County. 

 

     ALLEGATIONS 

36.  Petitioner has made clear to the LOCUST VALLEY Central School District that she does 

not consent to the Covid 19 Covered Countermeasure, mask mandate, being imposed on her 

children for attendance at their schools. See Affid. of M.F., also see Exh. 5, Medical Doctor’s letters 

re G.M.F..  

37.  Petitioner provided a medical note from her daughter’s G.M.F.’s ear, nose, and throat (ENT) 

specialist explaining that G.M.F. experiences problematic nose bleeds requiring cauterization, and 

thus, G.M.F.’s medical condition would be contraindicated for mask wearing, that LOCUST 

VALLEY High School has not respected.  
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38.  Petitioner’s younger son G.F., is being homeschooled because he cannot tolerate his face 

mask due to learning disabilities. The Petitioner has been forced to work from home, and reduce her 

work hours to accommodate his educational and developmental needs, causing the family economic 

hardship.   

39.  Mask use cannot be mandated on any human subject without, uncoerced, informed consent 

under international, federal, and state laws, and jus cogens norms. Jus cogens norms are peremptory 

norms, based on a fundamental principles of international law and human rights, that have been 

adopted in state law found in NYPH Chapter 45, Art. 24a, from which no derogation is permitted 

involving the use of an “experimental” device on children without uncoerced, informed consent of 

the parent. Id. 

40.  Mask mandates imposed on students in this state, without parental consent, violate NY 

Public Health, Article 24-a, (2440-2446), protection of human subjects, that prohibits mandatory 

use of experimental devices, such as masks, without informed consent.  The legislation clearly 

explains the informed consent standard in New York State, that upon the plain reading of the 

statute, is contrary to the newly, enacted NYSDOH regulations found in Part 66.3-2. “Viewed in 

that light, the agency’s actions were a far cry from the ‘interstitial’ rule making that typifies 

administrative regulatory activity” violating the Separation of Powers rule.  Boreali v. Axelrod, 71 

N.Y.2d at 13. 

 §  2442. Informed consent provides: 

 “No human research may be conducted in this state in the absence of the voluntary 
 informed consent subscribed to  in   writing  by  the  human  subject.  If the human subject 
 be a minor, such consent shall be subscribed to in writing by the minor's parent or legal   
 guardian. If the human subject be otherwise  legally  unable  to  render  consent,  such  
 consent  shall be subscribed to in writing by such other  person as may be legally  
 empowered  to  act  on behalf  of  the  human subject.  No  such voluntary informed consent 
 shall include any language  through which the human subject waives, or appears to waive, 
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 any of  his  legal rights, including  any release of any individual, institution or  agency, or 
 any agents thereof, from liability for negligence." 
 
 

41.  Petitioner does not consent to mask use for any of her children, and her claim is the school-

required face masks are obstructing her children breathing.  This is especially affecting her daughter 

G.M.F.’s breathing and is causing nose bleeds, headaches, anxiety, and great physical and 

emotional stress to her child while in school.   See Affid. of M.F. 

42.  G.M.F. (daughter), is a sophomore at LOCUST VALLEY High School.  She is a lovely, 

fifteen (15) year old teenage girl, who suffers from chronic nose bleeds that are so severe they often 

require doctor visits for cauterization to stop the bleeding. See Exh. 5, medical letters.  The masks 

are causing G.M.F. to suffer painful, and embarrassing, nose bleeds several times a day while at 

school, that are detrimental to her health, causing her physical and emotional injuries, and 

irreparable harm. Id. 

43.  G.C.F. (daughter), age fourteen (14) is in eighth  grade at LOCUST VALLEY Middle 

School, and she too is a lovely little girl, who is suffering.    G.C.F. has developed severe face 

rashes from the school required face masks and cannot tolerate them. 

44.       N.F. (daughter), age twelve (12) is in seventh grade at LOCUST VALLEY Middle School, and 

she frequently cries to her mother that she cannot breathe while in school from the face coverings, 

that she cannot tolerate, causing her physical and emotional injuries and irreparable harm.   

45.  G.F., Petitioner’s son, is eleven (11) years old, and is currently being homeschooled because 

he simply cannot tolerate his face mask due to his learning disability causing him depression, 

developmental and emotional injuries, and irreparable harm.  

46.  Petitioner’s claim is any hypothetical risk of transmissibility from her children to others is so 

low, it cannot be said to rise to the level of “disaster,” as contemplated in Executive Law §20 (2) 
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(a), natural and manmade disasters, as reflected in Chapter 71 (amending and repealing Chapter 23 

(a)), pursuant to which the Governor has exercised his police powers in Executive Order(s) 202, 

202.14 & 202.60, closing\re-opening schools, with an unconstitutional mask mandate. See 

Executive Law §20(2)(a).10 

47.  In Jacobson v Massachusetts, 197 US 11, the Supreme Court, in articulating a state’s police 

power during a declared public health emergency, did not give blind deference to the state officials.  

Indeed, the Supreme Court has placed restraints on police power in response to a public health 

declaration requiring a mandate have “necessity, proportionality, harm avoidance, and fairness”, 

and, further, the exercise of police power may not be discriminatory. For example, police power 

may not target children with experimental medical use devices for a disease to which a child’s 

chance of dying is basically “zero”. 11 Id.   

48.  The Supreme Court's precedent in Jacobson is clear: a public health mandate is permissible 

only in an “emergency," when there was “imminent danger," when "an epidemic of disease . . . 

threatens the safety of [society’s] members,” when there was “the pressure of great dangers,” and 

for an “epidemic that imperiled an entire population.” Id at 35 – 39.   

49.  The Supreme Court’s language “emergency, imminent danger, peril to the entire population” 

suggests grave danger, that fortunately does not exist in New York State, according to CDC’s 

updated IFR data which shows basically a “zero” risk of a child dying from Covid 19, and a mere 

hypothetical possible  risk of transmission from children to others.12  Therefore, Covid 19 cannot be 

held to rise to the level of a public health “disaster” as defined in Executive Law 20 (a)(2), 

warranting Petitioner’s relief to strike down the mask mandate as arbitrary and capricious, as 

 
10 https://codes.findlaw.com/ny/executive-law/exc-sect-20.html 
11 Id at footnote 1 & 2. 
12 Id at footnote 1 & 2. 
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violating state and federal laws, as violating the Separation of Powers and Informed consent 

Doctrines, and as violating Petitioner’s constitutional rights of equal protection and due process of 

law.  

50.  Even if there is a perceived deadly “epidemic” by health officials in this state, upon judicial 

review of the evidence, relying on CDC data, it is not Covid 19, because Covid 19’s IFR is so low, 

it cannot be rationally held to rise to the level of a deadly “epidemic,” as contemplated in the 

definition of “disaster” under the Executive Law §20(a), natural and manmade disasters.  

51.  As of May 26, 2021, the IFR of Covid 19 at the population level (includes all ages and all 

who had underlying health conditions) in the U.S. is 1.78%, which makes the survival rate of Covid 

19 about 98.2% which cannot be held to rise to the level of grave danger or a deadly “epidemic” 

contemplated by the Supreme Court in Jacobson. 13 

52.  Indeed, the below graph demonstrates the world death rate, 0.430%, is lower today than it 

was in 2019 at 0.440%.   

World - Historical Death Rate Data14 

Year Death Rate Growth Rate 

53.2021 54.7.645 55.0.430% 

56.2020 57.7.612 58.0.440% 

59.2019 60.7.579 61.0.440% 

 
13 Our World Data https://ourworldindata.org/mortality-risk-covid 
14 https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/WLD/world/death-rate 
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World - Historical Death Rate Data14 

Year Death Rate Growth Rate 

62.2018 63.7.546 64.-0.320% 

65.2017 66.7.570 67.-0.320% 

 

68.  School children (as a class) do not threaten the entire population by refusing consent to 

wearing a mask seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days a week for a disease they have basically a 

“zero” percent risk of dying from if exposed. Studies show that asymptomatic transmission is 

extremely rare. In a study of nearly ten million participants, the results showed only 300 possibly 

asymptomatic carriers, and when they were tested using live cell cultures, they were not “replication 

competent”, meaning none of them could contaminate anyone else. 15 

69.  Further, a very rare, possible, hypothetical, pre-symptomatic chance of transmission cannot 

be held rise to the level of “disaster” when “[i]n close-contact, long exposure settings such as 

households, one study showed a transmission rate of just .7%.” 16 

70.  Children are at a basically “zero” risk of dying if exposed to SARS-CoV-2; moreover, 

natural immunization via wild exposure would confer virtually 100% safe and 100% effective 

 
15 Cao, S., Gan, Y., Wang, C. et al. Post-lockdown SARS-CoV-2 nucleic acid screening in nearly ten million residents 
of Wuhan, China. Nat Commun 11, 5917 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19802-w 
 
16 Household Study https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2774102 
Madewell ZJ, Yang Y, Longini IM, Halloran ME, Dean NE. Household Transmission of SARS-CoV-2: A Systematic 
Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(12):e2031756. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020 
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immunity that is possibly life-long, helping to control the spread of Covid 19, as nature intended as 

opposed to an experimental, gene therapy Covid 19 vaccination. (Nature)17 

71.  Upon information and belief, as of May 7, 2021, there have been two suspected, 

unconfirmed child deaths caused by Covid 19 in New York State.18 

72.  According to the CDC, “[t]he risk of complications for healthy children is higher for flu 

compared to COVID 19.” 19 Yet, New York State is not requiring the same measures for the flu 

which overall is more serious for children than Covid 19, demonstrating just how egregiously 

arbitrary and capricious the mask mandate is. 

73.  Another far more deleterious disease is tuberculosis (“TB”), a contagious bacterial infection 

of the lungs that can be spread through the air when a person speaks, coughs, or sneezes.20  TB has a 

much higher fatality rate than Covid 19.  People with HIV, babies and young children, and older 

adults continue to have a higher risk of getting the disease.21 New York State is not requiring the 

same mask mandate for TB, which is overall more serious for children than Covid 19, further 

demonstrating just how egregiously arbitrary and capricious the mask mandate is.  

74.  Petitioner’s claims are fully supported, and predicated upon CDC data, that is the same data 

the Governor reported that he is relying upon in the Covid 19 Executive Orders, and is the same 

data NYSDOH regulations in part 66.3-2 are pointing to, that clearly demonstrate, upon a weighing 

of the CDC’s data, and other scientific evidence proffered in this case, G.M.F. faces no health risk 

 
17 Nature 
https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-021-01442-9 Turner, J.S., Kim, W., Kalaidina, E. et al. SARS-CoV-2 
infection induces long-lived bone marrow plasma cells in humans. Nature (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-
021-03647-4 
 
18 Health.ny.gov 
https://coronavirus.health.ny.gov/childhood-inflammatory-disease-related-Covid 19 
 
19 https://www.cdc.gov/flu/symptoms/flu-vs-covid19.htm 
20 https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/newsroom/docs/factsheets/TB-in-the-US-508.pdf 
21 https://npin.cdc.gov/disease/tuberculosis 
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to herself or others from Covid 19, and the mask mandates are not rationally related to any 

perceived health interest they may serve. 

75.  Petitioner has established by clear and convincing evidence from the CDC, other nationally, 

recognized, evidence-based standards, and peer review scientific research, proffered on the record, 

that in the absence of a true health threat in New York State, Covid 19 cannot be held rise to the 

level of grave danger required by the Supreme Court’s precedent in Jacobson, that articulated clear 

restraints on police power in a declared health emergency. 

 

FEDERAL PREEMPTION 

76.  The use of masks and face coverings being mandated upon school children has not received 

final approval from the Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”). Face masks are an unapproved 

product that was authorized for emergency use “only” under a series of Emergency Use 

Authorizations  (“EUAs”), that require informed consent. Among the key federally, authorized, 

“emergency use only” products and treatments, available as EUA’s as part of the Covid 19 response 

include: 

  a. devices, systems and procedures that may detect the possible presence of some  
  viral material  in a person (i.e., “tests” or “RT-PCR tests” or “antigen tests” or  
  “antibody tests”);  
 
  b. wearable devices that may have some effect on reducing transmission (i.e.,  
  “masks” or “Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)”); and  
 
  c. two different manufacturers’ mRNA injectable drug treatments delivered via  
  two consecutive shots (i.e., “vaccines”).   
 
  d. one manufacturer’s recombinant single-shot vaccine. 

  
77.  EUA products are, by definition, experimental and investigational; anyone administering or 

receiving an EUA product is participating in a medical experiment.  

INDEX NO. 607277/2021

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 21 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 06/15/2021

17 of 59



18 
 

78.  EUA products cannot be mandated.22 

79.  For Masks — or any other of the EUA products — to be distributed and used at LOCUST 

VALLEY’s school(s), said use would require disclosure documents published by the FDA for each 

EUA be provided to all users, detailing the potentially significant risks and benefits associated with 

use of that specific product, and the right to withhold consent. 

80.  Upon information and belief, the school Respondents have not provided the above-described 

EUA information for the mask mandate being imposed upon Petitioner’s children to attend school, 

and instead have harassed and humiliated G.M.F. in front of her peers and faculty about her chronic 

nose bleeds, attributed to the humidity and moisture, and accumulated bacteria from mask wearing 

up to seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days a week while at school. 

81.  EUA laws prohibit Respondents from mandating of students use products that are 

experimental and have been approved only conditionally for emergency use. 23 24  

82.  Upon information and belief, Respondents have not fully informed Petitioner of the known 

and potential risks of the EUA mask mandate, but instead LOCUST VALLEY has threatened to 

suspend, quarantine, or punish G.M.F. if she does not submit to experimental mask use.  

83.  Upon information and belief, Respondents have allegedly, condoned or encouraged peer 

pressure, bullying or discrimination from other students and faculty, especially, against G.M.F,  a 

fifteen (15) year old high school sophomore who cannot, and will not, comply with the NYSDOH 

mask mandate by withholding informed consent.  

 

 
22 21 U.S.C. Sec 360bbb-3(e)(1)(A)(ii)(III), available at: https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-
response/mcm-legal-regulatory-and-policy-framework/emergency-use-authorization#abouteuas; see also Doe #1 
v. Rumsfeld [341 F.Supp.2d 1 (2004)]   
23 21 USC Sec 360bbb-3(e)(1)(A)(ii)(III)  
and Doe v. Rumsfeld [341 F.Supp.2d 1 (2004)]; see also NYPH Chapter 45, Article 24 (a)  
24 Id 
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        HUMAN EXPERIMENTATION REQUIRES INFORMED CONSENT 

84.  The federal and state laws at issue in this case rest on the first principle of the Nuremberg 

Code, requiring that the human subject be “so situated as to be able to exercise free power of choice 

without undue inducement or any element of force, fraud, deceit, duress or other forms of constraint 

or coercion.” Trials of War Criminals Before The Nuremberg Military Tribunal Council Law No. 10 

(1997).  The principle of informed consent was formed at the end of World War II, after it was 

revealed the Nazis were engaging in horrific inhumane experimentation that involved vaccination 

experiments, among other heinous torture, on adults and children in concentration camps.25   

85.  The Nuremberg Code was adopted as part of the Allies’ Military Tribunal final judgment in 

the Nazi doctor trials, known as the Nuremberg Code on Permissible Medical Experiments. Point 

One of the Nuremberg Code states:  

  “The voluntary consent of the human subject is absolutely essential.”  

86.  This standard has since been repeatedly ratified and adopted around the globe, in laws, 

treaties, regulations, and ethical guidelines for medical research. For example, in 1964, the World 

Medical Association adopted the Declaration of Helsinki, which provides that human subjects 

“must be volunteers and informed participants in the research project.” Declaration of Helsinki at 

Art. 20.26 

87.  Federal Regulations relating to the protection and informed consent of human subjects 

implement this norm, and are binding legal obligations. 45 CFR § 46.401, et seq., applies to “all 

research involving children as subjects, conducted or supported by [HHS].”  

 
25 Sources for the historical facts set forth herein can be found in Abdullahi v. Pfizer, 
Inc., 562 F.3d 163 (2d Cir. 2009), which explains in detail the history and reasons why 
the prohibition against nonconsensual human experimentation should be regarded as a 
jus cogens norm. 
26 https://www.wma.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/DoH-Oct2013-JAMA.pdf 
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 § 46.405 states: 

HHS will conduct or fund research in which the IRB finds that more than minimal risk to 
children is presented by an intervention or procedure that holds out the prospect of direct 
benefit for the individual subject, or by a monitoring procedure that is likely to contribute to 
the subject’s well-being, only if the IRB finds that:  
 
(a) The risk is justified by the anticipated benefit to the subjects;  
 
(b) The relation of the anticipated benefit to the risk is at least as favorable to the subjects as 
that presented by available alternative approaches; and  

  
 (c) Adequate provisions are made for soliciting the assent of the children and permission of 
 their parents or guardians, as set forth in § 46.408. 
 

88.  The same Nuremberg principles have been adopted by the New York Legislature, and no 

person in this state’s jurisdiction may be forced to undergo the administration of experimental 

medicine without that person’s informed consent. The mask mandate regulations in NYCRR 66.3-2, 

are contrary to the law of this State requiring informed consent, and thus, violate the Separation of 

Powers Rule. 

89.  Mask mandates impose on fundamental liberty interests and rights of bodily autonomy, and 

involves a discrete level of fundamental, medical policy, decision-making within the province of the 

legislature, not NYSDOH, of which the “government cannot cede its fundamental policy-making 

responsibility to an administrative agency” particularly when, as here, the regulations and 

guidelines are contravening other state and federal laws, and regulations, requiring informed 

consent violating the Separation of Powers rule.  See Boreali v Axelrod, 71 N.Y.2d 1 (1987) at 9; 

also NY Public Health, Article 24-a, (2440-2446). 

90.  LOCUST VALLEY’s school mask mandate is wholly preempted by federal regulation, and 

contravenes state law, and cannot be mandated by NYSDOH regulations and guidelines imposed in 

New York State schools without violating the Separation of Powers rule. Id. “It is the province of 
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the people’s elected representatives, rather than appointed administrators, to resolve difficult social 

problems by making choices among competing ends.” N.Y. Statewide Coal. of Hispanic Chambers 

of Commerce, 23 N.Y.3d at 696-97 (brackets omitted). 

91.  Congress enacted Title 21, Section 360bbb-3 of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act 

(the “FFDCA”) to vest the Secretary of Health and Human Services with permissive authority to 

“authorize the introduction into interstate commerce, during the effective period of a declaration [of 

emergency], of a drug, device, or biological product intended for use in an actual or potential 

emergency. . . .” See 21 U.S.C. § 360bbb-3(e)(1)(A). which mandates the following conditions for 

authorization of an unapproved product: 

 . . . [T]he Secretary, to the extent practicable given the applicable circumstances 
 described in subsection (b)(1), shall, for a person who carries out any activity for  which 
 the authorization is issued, establish such conditions on an authorization under  this 
 section as the Secretary finds necessary or appropriate to protect the public health, 
 including the  following: 
 
 . . . (ii) Appropriate conditions designed to ensure that individuals to whom the product 
 is administered are informed—…(III) of the option to accept or refuse 
 administration of  the product. . . .21 U.S.C. § 360bbb-3(e)(1)(A)(ii) (emphasis 
 added). 
  

SAFER ALTERNATIVES TO PROTECT THOSE AT RISK 

92.  In granting Petitioner’s relief to restrain the newly, enacted mask mandate regulations in 

Part 66.3-2, clearly this would not prevent others who wish to continue wear masks, as a 

prophylactic measure, preventing them from doing so.  Many New Yorkers are very, very afraid of 

dying from Covid 19, and this is understandable with the current, medical research censorship, and 

the media distortion of the true threat of dying from Covid 19, which is “basically zero,”  according 

to CDC. 27 

 
27 Id at footnote 1 & 2 
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93.  Frequent handwashing is another protocol proven effective in preventing the spread of 

illness with little side effects as alternative to masks. And of course, people who are feeling ill, with 

fever, or other symptoms can stay at home from work and school.  This is a common-sense 

approach to public health. 

94.  Another important alternative to experimental masks are several, proven effective 

prophylactic drugs and treatments such as Ivermectin, Hydroxychloroquine, Vitamin C & D, and 

Zinc to fight Covid 19 for those deemed at risk. 

95.  Although Ivermectin has reportedly been used successfully in Australia and several other 

countries to treat Covid 19, Ivermectin is not approved by the United States government as a Covid 

19 treatment.  Ivermectin and Hydroxychloroquine have not been authorized to treat Covid 19, but 

Vitamin C & D, and Zinc are affordable treatments with long standing FDA approval for their 

authorized, non-Covid 19 uses. 

96.  Concerning treatment of Covid 19 with Vitamin C, clinical studies around the world area 

have consistently indicated that appropriately-dosed vitamin C in Covid 19 patients results in an 

accelerated resolution of the infection. Since March of 2020 in the United States, the use of vitamin 

C as a preventive measure as well as for the treatment of hospitalized Covid 19 patients, particularly 

in the intensive care units, began to dramatically increase. At that time, all 23 hospitals in the 

Northwell Hospital Network in New York began giving IV vitamin C to their more advanced Covid 

19 patients with very positive clinical responses reported. Dr. Thomas E. Levy, ‘Rapid Virus 

Recovery’, MedFox Publishing, (2021), pp. 155-156; Kashiouris M, L’Heureux M, Cable C et al. 

(2020). The emerging role of Vitamin C as a treatment for sepsis. Nutrients 12:292 

PMID:31978969. It should be noted the Northwell Hospital Network is centered in Nassau County. 
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97.  Earlier this year, two New York State Courts ordered hospitals in Western New York to 

provide Ivermectin to patients suffering from Covid 19, based upon recommendations of the 

treating physicians, although the drug has not yet been authorized by the FDA for the treatment of 

Covid 19.28 

98.  Upon information and belief, in both those cases, critically ill, elderly patients improved 

dramatically and completely recovered from their respiratory infections without being ventilated. Id. 

99.  The above listed prophylactic treatments are a viable alternative to an “experimental” 

emergency use authorized mask mandates, and the accompanying gene therapy (a.k.a. SARS-CoV-

2) vaccine(s)) that have been linked to over 4400 deaths in the United States, according to the 

federal government’s Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System known as “VAERS.” 29 

 

 

        NEW YORK STATE’S COVID 19 RESPONSE IS IRRATIONAL 

 
28 https://lymediseaseassociation.org/Covid 19-and-lyme/ny-supreme-court-judge-orders-hospital-to-give-patient-
ivermectin-for-Covid 19/ 
29 Physicians are mandated to report vaccine reactions to VAERS. 
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100.  Although Covid 19’s alleged, lab-created mutation has caused an enhanced 

transmissibility of the SARS-CoV-2 virus achieved through a process known as “Gain of Function”, 

its lethality, or virulence, to the general population is less than 1.7%. 30 And like most virus strains 

that occur in nature, Covid 19 is petering out as herd immunity increases which cannot be attributed 

to vaccinations, and may have been slowed down by lockdowns and masks mandates. This means 

although contagious, Covid 19 has an exceptionally low IFR for those infected, according to the 

CDC, and thus, is far from a disaster.  (See Petitioner’s Memorandum of Law, re: Request for 

Judicial Notice of CDC CFR data). 

101.  The CDC’s data shows that Covid 19 has turned out to be far less lethal than first 

thought in January of 2020, when Secretary Azar declared a public health emergency in response to 

Covid 19, and the Governor issued the first Executive Order 202 declaring an emergency on March 

7, 2020, some fifteen (15) months ago. See Exh. 1, Governor’s  E.O. 202.   

102. Indeed, the threat from Covid 19 has been blown far out of proportion compared to its actual 

lethality in the U.S., according to CDC IFR data. Id. This is not the first time the “science” has been 

wrong.   

103. Notably, in April of 2019, in Rockland County, the alleged epicenter of the 2019 prequel 

epidemic to Covid 19, a State Supreme Court enjoined an Executive Order involving “measles 

epidemic” cases, and made a finding that “Rockland County has seen 166 cases of measles…in a 

population of roughly 330,000 people, 166 cases is equal to .05% of the population, which does not 

appear, on the record before the Court, to rise to the level of an “epidemic as included in the 

definition of disaster under Executive Law §24.” Id. See Jane Doe v Ed Day, Index No. 

 
30 Id at footnote 13. 
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031784/2019, Hon. Rolf Thorsen, SCJ, April 5, 2019, County of Rockland, State of New York, 

appeal denied Appellate Division Second Department. 

104. Petitioner asserts the CDC Covid 19 IFR data is extremely important evidence in support of 

her claim because early on in the lockdowns during a May 2020, press conference, the Governor 

described the consequences of exposure to Covid 19 as dire, resulting in certain death to anyone 

infected with Covid 19, which was inaccurate and exaggerated.31 32 

105. According to CDC data, clearly the Governor got it wrong, and his perception of certain 

death from Covid 19 was a grievous mistake on his part, and contributed to a state-wide hysteria, 

and series of unconstitutional Executive Orders which closed schools, shuttered people in their 

homes, and subjected children to experiments and testing, that is causing Petitioner’s children and 

other children similarly situated throughout New York State irreparable harm. 33 

106. At the same press briefing, the Governor stated that in formulating his Covid 19 response, in 

an exercise of his police powers to lock-down New Yorkers in their homes, shutter business and 

close schools, the Governor claimed that he was relying on the same CDC data that Petitioner is 

relying upon in the Petition, seeking an order granting the requested relief to strike down the 

regulations in Part 66.3-2, and restrain the mask mandate.34 Id.   

107. Applying the CDC’s IFR data to children or the general population in this state, Covid 19 

cannot, even under the most liberal interpretation of the definition of “disaster,” be deemed to rise 

to the level of a deadly public health crisis or “epidemic” when there is a 98.7% survival rate in the 

general population from exposure to Covid 19, according to the CDC, and at the same time comport 

 
31 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UcZegj_nAjM&t=2454s 
32 Andrew Cuomo to Trump administration: 'You pick the 26K people who are going to die' (politico.com) 
 
33 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eWejoaD5JhE 
34 https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material/publikationsarkiv/c/covid-19-in-schoolchildren/ (a 
Comparison of Schoolchildren in Finland and S 
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with the Supreme Court’s restraints on police power set out in Jacobson, requiring grave danger in 

an “epidemic that imperiled an entire population.” See Jacobson v Massachusetts, 197 U.S. 11 at 3. 

108. Petitioner’s sought after declaratory and injunctive relief would not be contrary to the public 

interest because children in this state pose little to any Covid 19 risk to themselves, or to others by 

transmission, but instead, are being unfairly, and unethically, burdened with untested, experimental 

use face masks, that are violating their federal and state constitutional rights violating due process 

and equal protection, where said use is based on uninformed, coerced consent.   

 

COVID 19’s DECLINING IFR IS A STATISTICAL MANIPULATION 

109. The recent, reported decline in Covid 19 cases\mortality is a statistical manipulation and the 

result of several factors not related to vaccinations, lockdowns, social distancing, or mask 

mandates.35 

110. For example, the CDC has changed the definition of Covid 19 cases, and now is only 

recording vaccine breakthrough cases that are defined as a hospitalized or a dead patient whose 

clinical specimen must have an RT-qPCR Ct value ≤28, as opposed to the former level of  ≤40.  Id.  

111. In identifying and investigating Covid 19 vaccine breakthrough cases, the CDC will now 

transition away from monitoring all reported exposures, and focus on vaccine breakthrough cases, 

identifying and investigating only the vaccine breakthrough infections, that result 

in hospitalization or death. This shift has altered the IFR, dramatically reducing Covid 19 deaths, 

statistically.36   

 
35 
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ogbl#search/sin+lee+perfect/QgrcJHsbflJFbcjlCbXTvLKffPsdMhKcRtb?projector
=1&messagePartId=0.1 
36 https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/Covid 19/health-departments/past-breakthrough-data.html 
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112. Further, earlier on in the alleged outbreak, on about March 24, 2020, HHS had changed the 

rules applicable to coroners and others responsible for producing death certificates and making 

“cause of death” determinations - exclusively for Covid 19.  The rule change requires Covid 19 

reported deaths be combined with regular influenza and pneumonia, so there is really no accurate 

way to discern the number of deaths actually caused by Covid 19.37 

113. The rule change states that “Covid 19 should be reported on the death certificate for all 

decedents where the disease caused or is assumed to have caused or contributed to death.” Id. This 

results in reporting of deaths as caused by Covid 19, even when in fact deaths were imminent and 

inevitable for other pre-existing reasons and caused by comorbidities.  

114. In other words, people dying with presumed Covid 19 were being reported as dying from 

Covid 19.  HHS statistics are now showing that 95% of deaths classed as “Covid 19 deaths” involve 

an average of four (4) additional comorbidities. This misattribution of the cause of death 

undoubtably stems from the substantial government subsidies paid to incentivize such misreporting 

of Covid 19 deaths.  

115. Petitioner alleges the diagnostic criteria for presuming Covid 19 infection or death is highly 

inaccurate, allowing for countless ailments to be classed as Covid 19, especially the common cold 

or ordinary seasonal flu. 

116. Any information contrary to this seems to be coming from the World Health Organization 

(WHO), among other conflicted sources, and is failing to identify the lab-enhanced, transmissibility 

of Covid 19 does not, fortunately, in this case, equal enhanced lethality.  Further, WHO is a global 

agency with its own agenda to which Petitioner affirms she does not submit to its jurisdiction.  

Petitioner is a resident of the State of New York. 

 
37 https://www.aha.org/special-bulletin/2020-12-10-hhs-updates-Covid 19-data-reporting-guidance 
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117. In another conflicted, and allegedly misleading report on school-teacher deaths allegedly 

caused by Covid 19, in support of school closures, it was stated that “More than 530 K-12 teachers  

died of Covid 19 last year, according to data compiled by the American Federation of Teachers.”  

Meryl Kornfield, A Teacher died of Covid 19. Asked to wear masks in his honor, school board 

members silently refused, Wash. Post (Jan. 24, 2021, 8:27 PM), https://tinyurl.com/y2w477yf.  

118. Given the inability to actually decipher Covid 19 deaths from seasonal flu or pneumonia in 

the reported data, and the apparent resistance of some school-teachers to returning to full time in 

class instruction, there is no way to know if a teacher did in fact die from Covid 19 (given current 

testing and reporting short-comings), as opposed to dying from some other cause, while 

symptomatic or testing positive for Covid 19, at the time of death. 

119. Upon information and belief, any reported decline in death rates from Covid 19 also cannot 

be attributed to the EUA vaccinations for two (2) reasons.  First, an insufficient number of people in 

this state have received the required Covid 19 EUA vaccinations to achieve what scientist 

misleadingly describe as vaccine-induced “herd immunity.”  

120. Second, HHS, for a second time, has modified the way it is recording Covid 19 IFR, that is, 

producing a rapid decline in death rates and hospitalizations that is being completely manipulated 

statistically, and has not been correlated to experimental vaccinations or face masks. 

 

PCR TESTING INADEQUATE 

121. Compounding the problem, HHS authorized the use of the polymerase chain reaction 

(“PCR”) test as a diagnostic tool for Covid 19, which themselves are experimental products, 

authorized by the FDA under separate EUAs. A PCR test can only test for the presence of a 
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fragment of the RNA of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, and literally, by itself, cannot be used to diagnose 

the Covid 19 disease.  

122. The PCR has been the test most frequently used to diagnose Covid 19, a technology its 

inventor, Kary Mullis, said should never be used for diagnosing disease. It was shown to have a 0% 

efficacy rate when used at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center in 2006 when it was thought that 

the center was experiencing an outbreak of whooping cough.38 

123. Further, the way in which the PCR tests are administered guaranties an unacceptably high 

number of false positive results. Cycle Threshold Value (“CT value”) is essentially the number of 

times that a sample (usually from a nasal swab) is magnified or amplified before a fragment of viral 

RNA is detected.  The CT Value is exponential, and so a 40-cycle threshold (which was the 

formerly recommended cycle by HHS) means that the sample is magnified around one trillion 

times. The higher the CT Value, the less likely the detected fragment of viral RNA is intact, alive, 

and infectious.39  

124. As a result of the change in CDC reporting, many PCR test kit manufacturers, and users, 

have reduced their positive cutoff CT values from ≤40 to ≤28, leading to an immediate decline in 

Covid 19 cases/mortality via statistical manipulation that has nothing to do with experimental face 

masks or vaccinations. 

125. On July 16, 2020, in an interview discussing PCR deficiencies with Anthony Fauci, M.D., 

the nation’s spokesperson on Covid 19, stated that the PCR test is useless and unreliable for 

diagnosing Covid 19 when run at 35 cycles or higher, as follows:  

 “…you can almost never culture virus from a 37 threshold cycle. So I think if 
 somebody does come in with 37, 38, even 36, you gotta say, you know, it’s dead 

 
38 Gina Kolata. Faith in Quick Test Leads to Epidemic That Wasn’t. New York Times Jan 22 2007 
https://www.nytimes.com/2007/01/22/health/22whoop.html accessed 9.2.2020 
39 CDC 2019-Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCCoV) Real Time RT-PCR Diagnostic Panel Instructions for Use. 
https://www.fda.gov/media/134922/download accessed 11.6.2020 
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 nucleotides, period. “In other words, not COVID 19 infection.”40[emphasis added]. 

126. Upon information and belief, Covid 19 death rates are highly inaccurate because they are 

also being inflated by hospitals that are being financially incentivized to record deaths as Covid 19 

for insurance premiums, and hospitals were questionably, immediately “venting” any patient 

suffering with lung distress attributed to Covid 19, also due to increased insurance premiums for 

ventilator deployment in a patient.   

127. By paying an additional 20% on top of traditional Medicare rates for Covid 19 patients 

during the public health emergency, and by reimbursing hospitals for treating the uninsured patients 

with the disease (at that enhanced Medicare rate). Both of those provisions stem from 

the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act.  The CARES 

Act created the 20% add-on to be paid for Medicare patients with Covid 19. 41 

128. Sadly, once on a ventilator, the likelihood of recovering from lung distress is greatly 

diminished.  Petitioner alleges the rapid deployment of ventilators responding Covid 19 in this state, 

coupled with “the sky is falling” type of media hysteria, more likely than not, contributed to the 

surge of Covid 19 deaths reported in early 2020 in New York, a state which has the Covid 19 

reported death rate, the most ventilated patients, and the most unconstitutional lockdowns and 

privacy violations of all 50 states, except for possibly Michigan and California that are equally 

shameful. 

 

  MASKS INTERFERE WITH NATURAL IMMUNITY 

129. In reality, most people infected with Covid 19 are asymptomatic, or experience only mild 

symptoms.  Most of the 1.9 million New Yorkers, allegedly, reported as exposed to Covid 19, have 

 
40 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a_Vy6fgaBPE&feature=youtu.be&t=260 
41 https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/748/actions?KWICView=false 

INDEX NO. 607277/2021

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 21 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 06/15/2021

30 of 59

https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/748/actions?KWICView=false
https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/estimated-cost-of-treating-the-uninsured-hospitalized-with-covid-19/


31 
 

recovered obtaining a life-long, natural immunity.  This type of natural immunity is superior, and 

cannot be vaccine-induced.   

130. In order for the vaccine-induced herd immunity theory to hold true outside of a “natural 

disease” and achieve lifetime immunity in the population, there must be a homogenous population, 

and a well mixing of the population must occur, unvaccinated status must be random, vaccines must 

have perfect efficacy, and the age distribution of the population must be uniform. None of those 

criteria are currently in place. Vaccinated populations do not share the same characteristics as 

naturally immune populations which renders the theory of herd immunity to be quite erroneous.42 

131. Natural immunity, as opposed to a vaccine-type-immunity, is the most effective way to 

control and diminish Covid 19’s prevalence in the human population.  Upon information and belief, 

masks are interfering with natural immunity with known and unknown risks to the general 

population.   

132. Children who have had Covid 19 usually experience mild or no symptoms, and in response 

develop a natural, life-long immunity superior to vaccine-induced immunity. 

 

     POLICE POWER 

133. On March 7, 2020, New York State Governor Andrew Cuomo issued Executive Order No. 

202, declaring a statewide disaster emergency in response to the Covid 19 pandemic. This 

Executive Order followed just a few days after legislation was passed and enacted into law (Chapter 

23 of the Laws of 2020) to expand the Governor’s police powers in an emergency by authorizing 

him to issue directives related to Covid 19, in addition to his existing authority to suspend laws and 

regulations during emergencies (“Chapter 23”). 

 
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ogbl#search/sin+lee+perfect/QgrcJHsbflJFbcjlCbXTvLKffPsdMhKcRtb?projector
=1&messagePartId=0.2 
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134. At the time, expanding the Governor’s emergency powers was seen as necessary for the 

state to respond quickly and effectively to this new public health crisis. Since then, Governor 

Cuomo has issued a series of suspensions and directives building on Executive Order No. 202 

“Disaster Emergency Order,” covering issues such as mask requirements, lockdowns, limits on 

gatherings, and vaccine distribution, among other things. 

135. This unmitigated expansion of Governor Cuomo’s emergency powers was initially set to 

expire on April 30, 2021, but new legislation was adopted and enacted in early March 2021 

(Chapter 71 of the Laws of 2021) amending and repealing certain provisions of Chapter 23 

(“Chapter 71”).  

136. On March 7, 2021, the New York State Legislature (the “Legislature”) passed Senate Bill S. 

5357, New York Ch. 71 of the Laws of 2021 (“Chapter 71”) which, upon becoming effective on 

such date, created a new law and process for issuing executive orders. Chapter 71 sought to extend 

the State’s response to Covid 19, and repealed former Executive Law §29-a. Chapter 71 provides 

that all executive orders then “in effect” as of March 7, 2021, were approved by the Legislature and 

continued for an additional thirty (30) days. 

137. Executive Order 202.60 was in effect as of March 7, 2021, and the mask mandate in the 

NYSDOH guidelines referenced therein, have been strengthened as of May 21, 2021, as regulations 

in NYCRR 66.3-2, face masks, although the Governor has since then relaxed other restrictions such 

as restaurant dining and gym attendance, but not the school mask mandate which lacks any 

scientific or medical basis.  

138. Petitioner alleges the Governor likewise should have ended the mask mandate because it is 

readily apparent that Covid 19’s IFR does not rise to the level of a “disaster” as contemplated in the 

Executive Law 20(2) (a), and thus, should be struck down to avoid further continuing irreparable 
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harm to Petitioner’s children and other children similarly situated who are literally suffocating 

under the mask mandate. 

139. Executive Order 202, and its amendments, specifically limit suspension and directives 

therein which are “not in the interest of the health and welfare of the public” and those “which are 

not reasonably necessary to aid the disaster effort.”  See Executive Order 202. 

140. While Chapter 71 prohibits new directives related to Covid 19, it preserves much of the 

Governor’s power by allowing him to extend and modify previously issued directives, subject to 

some additional procedural safeguards, including judicial review.   

141. Governor Cuomo has used his continuing power to extend or modify Covid 19 response 

suspension and directives several times since the new legislation was signed into law, and went into 

effect on March 8, 2021.  See Executive Order 202.101. 

142. On May 7, 2020, with respect to school closures and mask mandates, Governor Cuomo 

issued Executive Order 202.28, which contained a directive that required that all “schools remain 

closed through the remainder of the [2019- 2020] school year.”  The Governor did not issue a 

subsequent school closure order, but instead purportedly extended the directives therein, multiple 

times through a series of modifications to Executive Order 202.28.    

143. The September 4, 2020, Executive Order 202.60, which modified Executive Order 202.45, 

which modified 202.38, that modified 202.28, that modified 202, provides, in pertinent part:  

 The directive contained in Executive Order 202.45, as extended, requiring closure of 
 all schools statewide to in-person instruction, is hereby modified only insofar as to 
 authorize schools statewide to be open for instruction, effective September 1, 2020, 
 subject to adherence to Department of Health issued guidance and directives…” See 
 Exh.2, E.O. 202.60. 
 

144. In response, on August 26, 2020, NYSDOH issued “Interim Guidance for In-Person 

Instruction at PreK to Grade 12 Schools During the Covid 19 Public Health Emergency” (the 
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“NYSDOH Guidance”), pursuant to the Governor’s Executive Order(s). 43  The Guidance included 

a mask mandate, as follows:  

Face Masks: Responsible Parties must maintain protocols and procedures for students, 
faculty, staff, and other individuals to ensure appropriate personal protective equipment 
(PPE) is used to protect against the transmission of the COVID 19 virus when on 
school grounds and in school facilities. Specifically, appropriate PPE means, at least, an 
acceptable mask, which is required to be worn by all individuals in all classroom and 
non-classroom settings, including but not limited to hallways, school offices, restrooms, 
gyms, auditoriums, etc. All visitors must wear masks. Masks should have at least two 
layers of material (e.g. 2-ply). However, Responsible Parties should allow students to 
remove their mask during meals. Acceptable masks include but are not limited to cloth-
based masks (e.g., homemade sewn, quick cut,), and surgical masks that cover both the 
mouth and nose. Please refer to the updated Face Masks and Coverings for COVID 19 
for recommendations on how to wear masks, how to improve mask protection, a list of 
which masks are NOT recommended, as well as how individuals can protect 
themselves while putting on and taking off a mask.   
 
Exh. 6, August 26, 2020, NYSDOH issued “Interim Guidance for In-Person Instruction 
at PreK to Grade 12 Schools During the Covid 19 Public Health Emergency 

 

145. On June 7, 2021, NYSDOH updated its face mask Guidelines, that state in relevant part: 

 Face Masks: Responsible Parties must maintain protocols and procedures for students, 
 faculty, staff, and other individuals to ensure appropriate personal protective equipment 
 (PPE) is used to protect against the transmission of the COVID-19 virus when in indoor  
 school facilities. Specifically, appropriate PPE means, at least, an acceptable mask, which is 
 required to be worn by all individuals in all classroom and non-classroom settings, including 
 but not limited to hallways, school offices, restrooms, gyms, auditoriums, etc. All visitors 
 must wear masks. Masks should have at least two layers of material (e.g. 2-ply). However, 
 Responsible Parties should allow students to remove their mask during meals. Acceptable 
 masks include but are not limited to cloth-based masks (e.g., homemade sewn, quick cut,), 
 and surgical masks that cover both the mouth and nose. Effective June 7, 2021, face masks 
 are not required to be worn outdoors on school grounds, including during outdoor school 
 sports. However, Responsible Parties may choose to require face masks outdoors on school 
 grounds, subject to the parameters of this guidance. No student, teacher, staff member, or 
 visitor may be prevented from wearing an acceptable face mask voluntarily on school 
 grounds.”44 
 
 Exh. 7, June 7, 2021, NYSDOH Guidelines re: Mask Mandates 
 
 

 
43 https://www.governor.ny.gov/sites/default/files/atoms/files/Pre-K_to_Grade_12_Schools_MasterGuidance.pdf 
44https://www.governor.ny.gov/sites/default/files/atoms/files/Pre-K_to_Grade_12_Schools_MasterGuidance.pdf 
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146. On May 21, 2021, NYSDOH enacted NYCRR 66.3-2, face mask regulations, that Petitioner 

alleges is violating inter alia the Separation of Powers and Informed consent Doctrines, and thus, 

should be struck down.   

147. The regulations state in relevant part, with respect to face coverings: 

05/26/2021 
 
Section 66-3.2 Face-Coverings 
 
(a)  Any person who is over age two and able to medically tolerate a face-covering shall be 
required to cover their nose and mouth with a mask or face-covering when in a public place 
and unable to maintain, or when not maintaining, social distance, unless such person is fully 
vaccinated, meaning two or more weeks have elapsed since such person received the final 
dose of any COVID 19 vaccine approved by the United States Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) or authorized by the FDA for emergency use; provided the person is 
not present in a pre-kindergarten to twelfth grade school, public transit, homeless shelter, 
correctional facility, nursing home, health care setting, or other setting where mask use is 
otherwise required by federal or state law or regulation. 

 
    

   LOCUST VALLEY SCHOOL REOPENING 

148. In September of 2020, LOCUST VALLEY schools reopened, and imposed a mask mandate, 

putatively, required in the NYSDOH guidelines, that forced all school children, without exception, 

to wear a mask (face coverings or face shields), for up to seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days per 

week, while in school or on school property. 45  

149. Although not at risk from Covid 19, LOCUST VALLEY has mandated that Petitioner’s 

children wear a mask all day while in school that they cannot medically tolerate.  

150. Petitioner’s children are being forced to wear an experimental face mask, without consent, 

entitling Petitioner to a declaratory judgment, declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s mask mandate is 

unconstitutional, illegal, and/or arbitrary and capricious, together with a temporary restraining 

 
45 COVID 19 and Reopening Information / District Reopening Communications (opschools.org) pg 19. 
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order, preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting Respondents from coercing 

students to wear masks while in school, and mandating LOCUST VALLEY provide in-school 

instruction five (5) days per week to students without requiring the children submit to human 

experimentation. 

151. In Jacobson, the Supreme Court was cautious of treading on areas of legislative decision-

making, but indeed proclaimed a responsibility of this Court, to give sensible construction to any 

regulation so that it would not lead to "injustice, oppression, or an absurd consequence.”  It made 

clear that no law should be interpreted in practice to be "cruel and inhuman in the last degree.” 

PETITIONER’S STANDING TO SEEK DECLARATORY RELIEF 

152. Petitioner is the mother and natural parent of five (5) children residing with her husband in 

in the LOCUST VALLEY school district, and each of their children are suffering from the mask 

mandate(s), but it is G.M.F., age fifteen (15) , and G.F., age eleven (11) , who are being so 

adversely affected by the mask mandate, that Petitioner must seek relief to avoid continuing 

irreparable harm and per se irreparable harm to her children, and other children similarly situated. 

153. Petitioner seeks an Order of this Court striking down the mask mandates, and declaring that 

Covid 19 does not rise to the level of a deadly, “epidemic,” contemplated in the definition of 

“disaster,” in the Executive Law §20(2)(a), natural and manmade disasters, pursuant to which the 

Governor is exercising his Covid 19 “emergency powers” in Executive Order(s) 202, 202.14, 

202.45 & 202.60 imposing the Covid 19 Countermeasures, and mask mandate, at state schools 

throughout New York. 

154. Petitioner has standing in that she has a universally recognized, fundamental right to be free 

from human medical experimentation, protected by the federal and state laws hereinabove 
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described, that is protected by legal standards and the due process and equal protection clauses of 

the New York State Constitution and United States Constitution. 42 U.S.C. 1983. 

155. Petitioner has not been informed by the Respondents of the risks or benefits associated with 

the mask mandate, and therefore, does not consent. 

156. Because the Respondents are continuing to impose Covid 19 restrictions on children that are 

not rational, and are requiring masks for in-person school attendance, Petitioner seeks declaratory 

relief in order to clarify her rights to the refuse the mask mandate for her children, finding the 

Respondents have not demonstrated Covid 19 to be a true public health emergency rising to the 

level of “disaster” as contemplated in Executive Law §20 (2)(a), defining natural and manmade 

disasters.   

157. All conditions precedent to this action have been performed, excused, waived, or do not 

apply. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(ALL RESPONDENTS) 
PREMPTION – INFORMED CONSENT 

42 U.S.C. §1983 
 

158. Petitioner realleges, and incorporates by reference, the allegations set forth in the above 

paragraphs, as if fully alleged and repeated herein, and further allege: 

159. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983. 

160. Federal laws and regulations governing the use of EUA devices such as masks, including 21 

USC 360bbb-3a: Emergency use of medical products; 45 CFR §46.401, et seq., Protection of 

Medical Subjects, and the regulations and guidelines pursuant thereof, fully occupy the field, and 

explicitly, and completely preempt any and all contrary or inconsistent Executive Laws, Executive 
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Orders, NYSDOH Guidance(s) and Regulations found in Part 66.3-2, face coverings, and any 

school policies mandating masks for school attendance. 

161. A number of additional federal regulations, notably the National Research Act [Title II, 

Public Law 93-348], 46 Regulations for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and 

Behavioral Research [45 CFR 46], 47 and revisions of various other regulations, rules, and laws ([21 

CFR 50], [21 CFR 56], [45 CFR 46 Subpart D], [10 CFR 745], [45 CFR 46 Subpart B], [45 CFR 46 

Subpart D]), guarantee that all persons in the United States are entitled to exercise the right of 

informed consent to accept or to refuse an experimental medical device. 

162. 21 C.F.R. § 50.20 provides that, “[e]xcept as provided in §§ 50.23 and 50.24, no investigator 

may involve a human being as a subject in research covered by these regulations unless the 

investigator has obtained the legally effective informed consent of the subject or the subject's legally 

authorized representative.” None of the exceptions provided in §§50.23 & 50.24 would apply to 

Petitioner.  

163. Petitioner does not fall into the exceptions. 

164. Informed consent to human experimentation is the plain intent of Congress, and yet the 

Governor through his Executive Orders and NYSDOH through its regulations in Part 66.3-2, face 

coverings, are  shortcutting the formal approval process for medical devices such as face masks.  

165. By mandating that all students at LOCUST VALLEY be required to wear masks for in 

person school learning, Respondents usurp and frustrate the intent of Congress, and the mission of 

the Secretary, and its regulatory arm FDA, in carrying out that intent.  

 
46 https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/STATUTE-88/pdf/STATUTE-88-Pg342.pdf#page=5 
47 https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-
bin/retrieveECFR?gp=&SID=83cd09e1c0f5c6937cd9d7513160fc3f&pitd=20180719&n=pt45.1.46&r=PART&ty=HTM
L 
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166. Because face masks are investigational\experimental devices, authorized for emergency use 

only, they cannot be mandated upon anyone who does not consent. 

167. A real and immediate controversy exists between the parties requiring the intervention of 

this Court by way of declaratory relief to determine the respective rights and powers of the 

respective parties. Petitioner and her children have no adequate remedy at law available against 

Respondents for the injuries and the irreparable harm they are suffering from, and will imminently 

suffer, as a direct result of the mask mandate. 

168. Accordingly, the mask mandate at issue violates federal regulations governing use of mask 

mandates for students in this state, and thus, the NYSDOH regulations in Part 66.3-2, and the mask 

mandate guideline(s), and school policies, are preempted by federal law. 

 
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

 
(ALL RESPONDENTS) 

DUE PROCESS – MEDICAL EXPERIMENTATION 
42 U.S.C. §1983 

 

169. Petitioner realleges, and incorporates by reference her allegations in the paragraphs above, 

as if more fully set forth, and alleged herein, and further alleges: 

170. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983. 

171. As more fully set forth above, the face masks are experimental use devices requiring 

informed consent to which Petitioner has not been informed by Respondents, and does not consent. 

172. Petitioner has a protected, fundamental liberty interest, secured by the Due Process Clause 

of the United States Constitution, international protocols and international treaties adopted by and 
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entered into by the United States, and by the laws and regulations of the United States, to be free 

from forced medical experimentation. 

173. This right is further recognized as a jus cogens norm under the law of nations, which 

prohibits human medical experimentation without informed consent.  

174. Petitioner does not consent to the mask mandate for her children to attend in-person learning 

at LOCUST VALLEY. 

175. Respondents have imposed a statewide mask mandate per NYCRR 66.3-2, requiring that all 

children wear masks for in-person learning at state public and private schools. The mask mandate is 

the official or de facto policy of LOCUST VALLEY, and such that LOCUST VALLEY is a 

“person” for purposes of Section 1983.  

176. Respondents are state actors, and have instituted and intend to continue a mask mandate 

under color of law. The forcible use of face masks upon children are depriving them their 

substantive due process rights. 

177. The harm to Petitioner cannot be adequately redressed at law requiring the sought after 

equitable and declaratory relief. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

(ALL RESPONDENTS) 
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK’S Public Health Article 24-A - (2440 - 2446),  

Protection of Human Subjects 
 

178. Petitioner realleges and incorporates by reference her allegations in the paragraphs above, as 

if fully alleged herein, and further allege: 

179. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983. 
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180. Petitioner invokes the Court’s jurisdiction to hear her claims because the mask mandate 

violates the law of this State governing human medical experimentation, and thus violates the 

Separation of Powers rule in that the regulations in NYCRR 66.3-2 directly contravene NYPH 

Chapter 45, Article 24 (a), Protection of Human Subjects. 

181. The Legislature in New York has adopted the Nuremberg principles in Public Health Article 

24-A, by prohibiting medical experimentation on human subjects without informed consent. The 

school required mask mandates are experimental use devices and covered under the PH Article 24-

A, as further alleged hereinabove, and thus the regulations in Part 66.3-2, violate the Separation of 

Powers rule. 

182. The mask mandate is therefore facially void, as a matter of law. 

183. Even if the mandate is not void, Petitioner does not consent to school required mask 

mandates. 

184. Petitioner reserves her right to seek damages and other relief as the Court may deem just. 

 
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 
(ALL RESPONDENTS) 

DECLARING RESPONDENTS’ MAKS MANDATE ILLEGAL UNDER THE 
EDUCATION LAW BECAUSE IT FAILS TO PROVIDE IN PERSON INSTRUCTION 

WITHOUT WEARING A MASK 
 

185. Petitioner realleges, and incorporates by reference her allegations set forth in the paragraphs 

above, as if more fully set forth, and alleged herein, and further alleges: 

186. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983. 

187. LOCUST VALLEY will only afford students in-person instruction provided they submit to 

human experimentation by wearing a face mask for up to seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days a 
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week without any of the Respondents taking any effort to monitor the safety of mask wearing on 

school children, or its efficacy in controlling the spread of Covid 19, and without any liability for 

injury, and thus, is needlessly hindering a student’s ability to learn and breathe while in school. 

188. Upon information and belief, Education Law § 3205 is in full force and effect, and has not 

been suspended, and provides: “In each school district of the state, each minor from six to sixteen 

years of age shall attend … full time instruction.” 

189. Upon information and belief, the NYSDOH face mask regulations in Part 66.3-2, apply to 

LOCUST VALLEY, and will only permit in-person learning by in a school building only to 

students who consent to wearing a face mask while in school. 

190. LOCUST VALLEY mask mandate school policy violates the Education Law because it will 

only provide in-person classroom education if children submit to experimental use face masks 

violating the Education Law. 

191. Petitioner has a clear legal right for her children to receive in person instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week, without being subject to an experimental mask 

mandate, and LOCUST VALLEY has a clear legal obligation to provide unhindered, instruction 

without requiring face masks. 

192. Petitioner is suffering a per se irreparable injury and is being threatened with irreparable 

injury in the future by reason of her children being denied the opportunity to receive instruction by a 

competent teacher for seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days per week without submitting to an 

experimental use device, i.e., mask or face covering, to which G.M.F. cannot tolerate. 

193. Petitioner’s daughter G.M.F., age fifteen (15), is suffering from humiliation and 

embarrassment, and physical and emotional injury caused by her severe nose bleeds being 

substantially aggravated by the face mask that is obstructing her breathing, particularly when her 
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nose bleeds are uncontrollable caused by the moisture and bacteria accumulating in the face mask 

she is required to wear seven (7) hours a day, five (5) days a week to attend school.   

194.    Petitioner’s daughter G.C.F., age fourteen (14), also in school, has endured numerous rashes on 

her face due to the prolonged wearing of a face mask, which she is required to wear seven (7) hours 

a day, five (5) days a week to attend school. 

195. Petitioner’s daughter N.F., age twelve (12), is also in school, and cries to her mother she is 

struggling to breathe while attending classes.  Petitioner’s children frequently sob uncontrollably 

over having to wear the face masks.  Indeed, this summer none of Petitioner’s school aged children 

will be attending summer camp because of the mask mandates, and this is causing them irreparable 

harm.  

196. Petitioner’s son G.F., age eleven (11), was taken out of school because of mask intolerance, 

and is being homeschooled by his mother.  Petitioner’s son is suffering harm to his social 

development and mental health being isolated away at home, and out of school, because he cannot 

tolerate the face mask.  The family is suffering economic injury as a result. 

197. Absent an injunction, the harm to Petitioner in the loss of her children’s legal rights to 

receive instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week without submitting to using an 

experimental mask device, Petitioner’s harm exceeds any conceivable harm to Respondents if this 

Court Orders the mask mandate enjoined because as alleged supra, according to CDC, the nation’s 

leading authority on Covid 19, the risk of a child dying from Covid 19 is so low, it cannot be said to 

rise to the level of an emergency, or “disaster” as contemplated in the Executive Law §20 (2)(a), 

Executive Orders 202 et seq. and NYCRR 66.3-2, face coverings. 

198. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment declaring Respondents’ mask 

mandate is illegal, together with a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, and 
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permanent injunction prohibiting LOCUST VALLEY and NYSDOH from denying any student 

instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week, who is withholding informed consent 

to the mask mandate. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

(ALL RESPONDENTS) 
(Declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s mask mandate unconstitutional and/or Illegal 

Under Article XI, § 1 of the New York State Constitution and New York Education Law) 
 

199. Petitioner repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above with the same force and 

effect as if fully set forth herein. 

200. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983.  

201. Article XI, § 1 of the New York State Constitution provides: “The legislature shall provide 

for the maintenance and support of a system of free common schools, wherein all the children of 

this state may be educated.” (Emphasis added). 

202. Article XI, § 1 specifically provides that public school education must be provided inside of 

school building (i.e., “wherein all children of this state may be educated”).  

203. Pursuant to Article XI, § 1, the Legislature has provided for a system of common schools 

“wherein” any student in New York State may be educated.  

204. The Legislature has enacted a state law prohibiting human experimentation, and has never 

passed any statute authorizing school districts to exclude children who do not consent.  

205. Instead, the Legislature has passed statutes that require school districts to provide education 

to their students within a school building. See, e.g., Educ. Law § 3202 (“A person over five and 

under twenty-one years of age who has not received a high school diploma is entitled to attend the 
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public schools maintained in the district in which such person resides without the payment of 

tuition.”) (Emphasis added).  

206. Upon information and belief, Education Law § 3202 continues to be in force and effect, and 

has not been suspended.  

207. LOCUST VALLEY is one of the public school districts duly authorized by the Legislature 

to provide public education.  

208. The actions of the Respondents, which purports to coerce uninformed consent to human 

experimentation upon school children has unconstitutionally (i) usurped the Legislature’s 

prerogative to provide “a system of free common schools, wherein all the children of this state may 

be educated”; and (ii) denied New York students their constitutional and legal rights to receive a 

free public education within a school building maintained by LOCUST VALLEY.  

209. LOCUST VALLEY is failing to provide the in-person education required by the New York 

State Constitution and statutes duly enacted by the Legislature, and is instead impermissibly relying 

on the NYSDOH Guidelines and regulations in Part 66.3-2 to evade its statutory and constitutional 

duties to provide in-person education to its students.  

210. Accordingly, Respondents have violated the Education Law, and the Separation of Powers 

rule trammeling on the Legislature’s authority by issuing regulations that require students receive 

their education, only if, they submit to human experimentation without informed consent that is 

preempted by federal law and jus cogens norms. 

211. The Court of Appeals has found that under Article XI, § 1 of the New York State 

Constitution “[c]hildren are entitled to minimally adequate physical facilities and classrooms.” 

Campaign for Fiscal Equity, Inc. v. State, 86 N.Y.2d 307, 317 (1995).  
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212. Respondents have further violated Article XI, § 1 of the New York State Constitution 

because under color of law they have created a class of children (who are at basically “zero” risk of 

contracting or transmitting Covid 19 to others), and is targeting them with experimental medical 

devices, when the rest of the state’s population, vaccinated or not, outside of school, can either wear 

a mask or socially distance, until such time as fully vaccinated, resulting in disparate treatment of 

school children. 

213. For example, outside of school, state residents are mandated to either wear masks or social 

distance if they are not vaccinated, with another experimental EUA device, i.e., the Covid 19 

vaccination. 

214. Upon information and belief,  children throughout New York State are suffering adverse 

physical and psychological health consequences being caused the mask mandate that is interfering 

with safe and adequate learning environment(s) consistent with the requirements of Article XI, § 1 

of the New York State Constitution.  

215. In sum, LOCUST VALLEY is failing to afford its students with their legal and 

constitutional right to an education unless the student provides coerced, uninformed consent to 

human experimentation. LOCUST VALLEY, by relying on the regulations and Guidelines issued 

by NYSDOH, to evade its constitutional mandate to provide all students with an adequate learning 

environment guaranteed under state and federal law.  

216. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to an Order from this Court (i) declaring that 

Respondents’ mask mandate is unconstitutional and/or illegal; and (ii) requiring LOCUST 

VALLEY to provide five (5) days per week of in-person instruction within a school building to 

those students whose parents do not consent to mask mandates.  
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217. Petitioner has a clear legal right for her children to receive in-school instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week without consenting to human experimentation. 

218. Petitioner is suffering a per se irreparable injury and is threatened with irreparable injury in 

the future by reason of her children being denied the opportunity to receive instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week within a school building without submitting to human 

experimentation.  

219. Petitioner’s children are suffering from physical and emotional injury, and are not receiving 

the quality of education they are entitled to under the New York State Constitution or the Education 

Law, but rather are being burdened with experimental medical use devices harming their social 

development and mental health caused by the mask mandate imposed by Respondents in place at 

LOCUST VALLEY. 

220. Absent an injunction, the harm to Petitioner in the loss of his children’s legal right to receive 

in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week without submitting to a 

mask mandate far exceeds any conceivable harm Respondents or the State of New York would 

suffer if Respondents’ mask mandate was struck down because the threat of death from Covid 19 is 

so low, it cannot be held to rise to the level of “disaster” as contemplated in the Executive Law 

Chapter 73, and Executive Order 202 et seq., because Covid 19 does not rise to the level of an  

“epidemic that imperiled society.”  Jacobson v Massachusetts, 197 US 11 (1905). 

221. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s 

mask mandate is unconstitutional and/or illegal, together with a temporary restraining order, 

preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting LOCUST VALLEY from denying its 

students in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week, without submitting 

to human experimentation, and such relief would not be contrary to the public interest. 
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

(Declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s Mask Mandate 
Unconstitutional Under Article I, § 11 of the New York State Constitution) 

 

222. Petitioner repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above with the same force and 

effect as if fully set forth herein.  

223. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983.  

224. Article I, § 11 of the New York State Constitution provides: “No person shall be denied the 

equal protection of the laws of this state or any subdivision thereof.” 

225. LOCUST VALLEY’s mask mandate has created a class of children at zero risk from Covid 

19, and has burdened them with an experimental device, without informed consent, placing that at 

risk of other illnesses, and thus, is violating the rights of students Article I, § 11 of the New York 

State Constitution because the mask mandate is not treating similarly situated persons in this state in 

the same manner.  

226. As noted above, the New York State Constitution requires that all students be afforded 

instruction by a competent teacher within a school building with adequate physical facilities and 

classrooms. 

227. However, when students in school are required to submit to human experimentation by 

virtue of wearing a mask, this is inhibiting adequate instruction.  While some students may desire to 

consent to mask mandates, others are unable to do so, and more important, do not have to do so.  

228. The laws of New York State and the New York State Constitution do not allow for such 

differentiation between learning environments for students that attend the same school district that 
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is entirely dependent upon coerced, uninformed consent to human experimentation upon the 

student.   

229. Instead, the laws of New York State and the New York State Constitution require that all 

students within a given school district are given access to competent instruction in an adequate 

classroom environment within a school building maintained by the school district unrestricted by 

coerced, uninformed consent to the mask mandate. 

230. This disparate treatment of different students, each of which have the right to a substantially 

similar learning environment within the school district, deprives Petitioner’s children of their 

constitutional rights under Article XI, § 1, in violation of the equal protection clause of New York 

State Constitution. 

231. Petitioner has a clear legal right for her children to receive in-school instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week without submitting to human experimentation. 

232. Petitioner is suffering a per se irreparable injury and is threatened with irreparable injury in 

the future by reason of her children being denied the opportunity to receive instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week within a school building without being subject to 

human experimentation.  

233. By denying a parent’s right of informed consent to refuse the mask, students are being 

deprived in-person instruction in a classroom without being subject to human experimentation. 

234. Petitioner’s children are suffering physical and emotional injuries, that are affecting them 

academically and socially, and they are not receiving the quality of education they are entitled to 

under the New York State Constitution or the Education Law.  

235. Absent an injunction, the harm to Petitioner in the deprivation of her right to informed 

consent, and to receive in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week, 
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without being subject to human experimentation, exceeds any conceivable harm Respondents or the 

State of New York would suffer if the Court were to strike down the mask mandates because the 

risk of harm from Covid 19 is so low (basically “zero”), that is cannot be held to rise to the level of 

a “disaster” as contemplated in Executive Law §20(2)(a).  

236. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s 

mask mandate is unconstitutional and/or illegal, together with a temporary restraining order, 

preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting LOCUST VALLEY from denying its 

students in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week without submitting 

students to human experimentation, such relief would not be contrary to the public interest. 

     

    SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

           (ALL RESPONDENTS) 
(Declaring Executive Order 202.60 & NYSDOH regulations in  

Part 66.3-2 to Be Legal Nullities) 
 

237. Petitioner repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above with the same force and 

effect as if fully set forth herein.  

238. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78 and 42 

U.S.C. 1983.  

239. On September 4, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order 202.60 which prevented school 

districts from opening up unless they adhered to the NYSDOH August 9, 2020 Guidance requiring 

mask mandates, and that is continuing now under even stricter, newly enacted regulations found in 

Part 66.3-2, face coverings. See Exh.3. 

240. Pursuant to a perceived epidemic that does not rise to the level of a disaster as defined in 

Executive Law 20(2)(a), the Governor’s exercise of police power with respect to the mask mandate 

INDEX NO. 607277/2021

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 21 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 06/15/2021

50 of 59



51 
 

must be enjoined because the Governor is currently denying students their constitutional and legal 

rights to in-person education without the benefit of any legally valid guidance or executive power, 

in the absence of a true Covid 19 public health threat that violates children’s state and federal 

statutory and constitutional rights.  

241. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to an Order from this Court (i) declaring that LOCUST 

VALLEY’s mask mandate policy is no longer authorized by any Guidance, Regulation or Executive 

Order; and (ii) requiring LOCUST VALLEY to provide five (5) days per week of in-person 

instruction within a school building to all students without subjecting the student to non-consensual 

human experimentation. 

242. Petitioner has a clear legal right for her child to receive in-school instruction by a competent 

teacher for five (5) days per week without being subject to an experimental mask mandate. 

243. Petitioner’s children are suffering a per se irreparable injury and are threatened with 

irreparable injury in the future by reason of them being denied the opportunity to receive instruction 

by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week within a school building without being subject to 

human experimentation. Petitioner’s children are suffering academically and not receiving the 

quality of education they are entitled to under the New York State Constitution or the Education 

Law. 

244. Absent an injunction, the harm to Petitioner in the loss of her children’s legal right to receive 

in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week exceeds any conceivable 

harm Respondents or the State of New York would suffer if LOCUST VALLEY were ordered to 

provide in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week for all LOCUST 

VALLEY students without being subjected to human experimentation to which Petitioner does not 

consent. 
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245. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s 

mask mandate is unconstitutional and/or illegal, together with a temporary restraining order, 

preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting LOCUST VALLEY from denying its 

students in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week without being 

subject to the mask mandate, and such relief would not be contrary to the public interest.  

 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Declaring Executive Order 202.60 and the NYSDOH Guidance Issued  

Thereunder to Violate The Separations of Powers Doctrine) 

 

246. Petitioner repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above with the same force and 

effect as if fully set forth herein.  

247. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78 and 42 

U.S.C. 1983.  

248. The NYSDOH face covering regulations which LOCUST VALLEY is relying on to deny its 

students five (5) days per week of in-person education—purports to require that students wear 

masks while within a school building.  

249. The NYSDOH Guidance and Regulations can only find authority under Executive Order 

202.60, reopening schools.   

250. The Executive Law Chapter 73 imposes two (2) limitations on Executive Orders. First, 

Executive Orders issued under Chapter 23 of 2020 had to be “reasonably necessary.” Second, 

Executive Orders issued under Chapter 23 of 2020 had to be “the minimum deviation . . . consistent 

with the goals of the disaster action deemed necessary.” 
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251. Regulations and Guidance issued pursuant to an Executive Order are subject to the same 

limitations as Executive Orders above set forth. Otherwise, the Governor could evade these 

limitations simply by directing an executive branch agency—which he controls—to issue 

Regulations and Guidance that exceeds the limitations imposed by Chapter 73 of 2021. “Striking 

the proper balance among health concerns, cost, and privacy interests, however, is a uniquely 

legislative function.” Boreali v. Axelrod, 71 N.Y.2d 1, 11-12 (1987). 

252. CDC data has conclusively shown that children are less susceptible to Covid 19 than the 

general population. Studies and articles showing that children are less susceptible to Covid 19, less 

likely to experience symptoms from Covid 19, and less likely to transmit Covid 19.  48 

253. NYSDOH’s Regulations and Guidance are imposing a mask mandate that is preempted by 

federal law, and conflicts with state law Protecting Human Subjects from coerced experimentation, 

and thus, is violating the Separations of Power rule. NYSDOH has created a medical device 

mandate by engaging in inherently legislative activities, and promulgating rules “embodying its 

own assessment of what public policy ought to be.” Boreali v. Axelrod, 71 N.Y.2d 1 (1987) at 9. As 

the Court of Appeals explained in Boreali, “the agency stretched beyond its constitutionally valid 

reach when it used the statute as a basis for drafting a code embodying its own assessment of what 

public policy ought to be.”  Boreali, at 8.   

254. The NYSDOH and NYSED Guidance cannot be said to be “reasonably necessary” or “the 

minimum deviation . . . consistent with the goals of the disaster action deemed necessary” because it 

seeks to impose a stricter mask and social distancing requirement on the subset of the population 

(children) who are the least vulnerable to Covid 19. Meanwhile other state guidance and regulations 

 
48 https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanchi/article/PIIS2352-4642(20)30251-0/fulltext )Transmission of SARS-
COV-2 in Australian educational Settings. 
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only impose a mask or social distancing requirement on the general population of New Yorkers, and 

no mask mandate on those who are being coerced to submit to an experimental EUA vaccination. 

255. There is no basis in science of medicine to impose stricter Covid 19 rules on those least 

likely to be susceptible to the disease than are imposed on the general population.  

256. Therefore, because the NYSDOH Guidelines and Regulations violate federal and state law, 

they must be found to be invalid.  

257. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to an Order from this Court (i) declaring that LOCUST 

VALLEY’s mask mandate impermissibly relies on invalid Regulations, Guidance and/or Executive 

Orders; and (ii) requiring LOCUST VALLEY to provide five (5) days per week of in-person 

instruction within a school building to all students eligible for education in this state. Petitioner has 

a clear legal right for her children to receive in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five 

(5) days per week without submitting to human experimentation. 

258. Petitioner is suffering a per se irreparable injury and are threatened with irreparable injury in 

the future by reason of her children being denied the opportunity to receive instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week within a school building without submitting to human 

experimentation.  Petitioner’s children are falling behind academically and not receiving the quality 

of education they are entitled to under the New York State Constitution or the Education Law.  

259. Petitioner’s children are suffering harm to their social development and mental health as a 

result of the social isolation being imposed by LOCUST VALLEY’s mask mandate. 

260. Absent an injunction, the harm to Petitioner in the loss of his children’s legal right to receive 

in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week exceeds any conceivable 

harm Respondents or the State of New York would suffer if LOCUST VALLEY were ordered to 
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provide in-school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week for all LOCUST 

VALLEY students without the mask mandate.  

261. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a Judgment declaring LOCUST VALLEY’s mask mandate 

is unconstitutional and/or illegal, together with a temporary restraining order, preliminary 

injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting LOCUST VALLEY from denying its students in-

school instruction by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week, without submitting to human 

experimentation, and such relief would not be contrary to the public interest. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

ALL RESPONDENTS 
 

(Declaring  mask mandates arbitrary and capricious) 
 

262. Petitioner repeats and realleges, each and every paragraph above with the same force and 

effect as if fully set forth herein.  

263. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding pursuant to CPLR §§ 3001 and Article 78, and 42 

U.S.C. 1983.  

264. Respondents’ mask mandates are preempted by federal law. 

265. Respondents’ mask mandates violate state law. 

266. Respondents’ mask mandates violate the New York State and United States Constitutions. 

267. Respondents NYSDOH and LOCUST VALLEY mask mandates violate the Separation of 

Powers Rule, and Informed consent Doctrine.  

268. Respondents’ mask mandates violate the Executive Law, Chapter 73, and Executive Orders 

202 et seq., because the mask mandate is arbitrary and capricious, and is not “necessary” to control 

a perceived spread of Covid 19 causing grave danger authorizing the Governor’s police powers. 
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269. Petitioner has standing and a clear legal right for his children to receive in-school instruction 

by a competent teacher for five (5) days per week without submitting to human experimentation. 

270. Petitioner is suffering a per se irreparable injury and are threatened with irreparable injury in 

the future by reason of her children being denied the opportunity to receive instruction by a 

competent teacher for five (5) days per week within a school building without submitting to human 

experimentation.  

271. A real controversy exists between the parties requiring a weighing of the CDC evidence that 

both parties to this dispute are relying upon.  

272. Petitioner is therefore entitled to a declaratory Order clarifying her rights as a parent and 

citizen of this state with respect to the Governor’s over-breath, unconstitutional Covid 19 response 

that is harming Petitioner’s children, and all other children in this state, similarly situated. 

273. Petitioner seeks an Order declaring the CDC IFR for Covid 19 is so low, basically “zero,” it 

cannot be held to rise to the level of a deadly “epidemic,” as contemplated in the definition of 

“disaster” in Executive Law §20(2)(a), natural and manmade disasters, and thus: arbitrary and 

capricious.  

274. Further, Petitioner is entitled to a finding Respondents’ mask mandate runs afoul of the 

Supreme Court’s precedent in Jacobson, and clear restraints on police power because Covid 19 does 

not rise to the level of deadly “epidemic” contemplated in the Executive Law §20 (2)(a), natural 

and manmade disasters. 

 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner demands judgment:  
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A.  On her First Cause of Action, declaring that Respondents’ mask mandates are preempted 

by federal law, and that LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time instruction for 

five (5) days per week without subjecting students to the mask mandate;  

B.  On her Second Cause of Action, declaring that Respondents’ mask mandate violates Due 

Process, and that LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time, in-person 

instruction for five (5) days per week without subjecting students to the mask mandates;  

C.  On her Third Cause of Action, declaring that Respondents’ mask mandate is violating 

NY PHL Chapter 45, Article 24-A (2440 -2446), and that LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of 

its students full time, in-person instruction for five (5) days per week without subjecting students 

to the mask mandate;  

D.  On her Fourth Cause of Action, declaring that Respondents’ mask mandate is illegal 

under the Education Law, and that LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time, in-

person instruction for five (5) days per week without subjecting students to the mask mandate;  

E.  On her Fifth Cause of Action, declaring Executive Order 202.60, the NYSDOH Guidance 

and regulations in Part 66.3-2 are invalid because they violate Article XI, §1 of the New York 

State Constitution and the Executive Law, and declaring that New York State’s Governor, 

NYSDOH and LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time, in-person instruction 

for five (5) days per week with subjecting students to the mask mandate;  

F.  On her Sixth Cause of Action, declaring Executive Order 202.60, the NYSDOH 

Guidance and regulations in Part 66.3-2 are invalid because they violate Article I, §11 of the 

New York State Constitution and the Executive Law, and declaring that New York State’s 

Governor, NYSDOH and LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time, in-person 

instruction for five (5) days per week with subjecting students to the mask mandate;  
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G.  On her Seventh Cause of Action, declaring that New York State’s Governor, NYSDOH 

and LOCUST VALLEY Orders, Guidelines, and Policies mandated school mask are nullities 

since they are not authorized by law and contravene Legislative Intent;  

H.  On her Eight Cause of Action, declaring Executive Order 202.60, the NYSDOH 

Guidance and regulations in Part 66.3-2 pursuant thereof, invalid because they violate the 

Separation of Powers rule, and declaring that New York State’s Governor, NYSDOH and 

LOCUST VALLEY must offer all of its students full time, in-person instruction for five (5) days 

per week with subjecting students to the mask mandate;  

I.  On her Ninth Cause of Action, declaring Executive Order 202.60, the NYSDOH 

Guidance and regulations in Part 66.3-2 arbitrary and capricious because the mask mandate 

violates federal and state laws, and declaring Covid 19 does not rise to the level of a deadly 

“epidemic” as contemplated in the definition of “disaster” in Executive Law §20(2)(a), and 

further, declaring that New York State’s Governor, NYSDOH and LOCUST VALLEY must 

offer all of its students full time, in-person instruction for five (5) days per week with subjecting 

students to the mask mandate;  

J.  Temporarily and preliminarily during the pendency of the proceeding, and permanently 

thereafter enjoining and restraining New York State’s Governor, NYSDOH and LOCUST 

VALLEY from denying students the opportunity to participate in an education program that 

provides students with full time, in-person instruction for five (5) days per week without 

subjecting them to mask mandates;  

K. Awarding Petitioner her costs and disbursements in this proceeding; and 

L. Awarding such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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DATED: June 7, 2021    
      s/Patricia Finn, Esq. 
      PATRICIA FINN, ATTORNEY P.C. 
      By:  Patricia Finn, Esq. (Bar No. 4109997) 
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